IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA CONLIFF

APPELLANT

v.

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01803

WALTER HUDSON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, CHANCELLOR JANACE HARVEY-GOREE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

K. F. BOACKLE, MS Bar No JEFFREY L. LEE, MS Bar No BOACKLE LAW FIRM, PLLC 700 AVIGNON DRIVE, SUITE C RIDGELAND, MISSISSIPPI 39157-5299 TELEPHONE 601-957-1557 FACSIMILE 601-957-1448

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA CONLIFF

APPELLANT

v

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01803

WALTER HUDSON

APPELLEE

INTRODUCTION

The case involves a claim of adverse possession by the Appellee in certain real property owned by the Appellant in Madison County, Mississippi ("subject property").

This suit was filed on August 12, 2004 by Walter Hudson, alleging ownership of the subject property by adverse possession. The cause came on for trial on October 10, 2008. On December 10, 2008, the Court rendered an opinion in a telephonic conference, finding that the Plaintiff, Walter Hudson had acquired title to the subject property, a disputed 29 foot-wide by 200 foot-long tract of real property owned by the Defendant, that Walter Hudson should be awarded a judgment for damages in the amount of \$821.00 for destroyed shrubs and plants on the disputed tract, and that Defendant Rebecca Conliff should be enjoined from surveilling any portion of Plaintiff's property and that a video camera used for such purposes should immediately be removed or redirected. The Court ordered Plaintiff's counsel to prepare an opinion and order based on the telephonic conference.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE NUMBER 1:

Whether the Court applied a clearly erroneous legal standard by in effect ruling that Hudson's adverse possession claim was "reactivated," after Hudson acquired the subject property by adverse possession, but then abandoned his ownership by recognizing Conliff's superior title and leasing the property from Conliff for five years.

ISSUE NUMBER 2:

Whether the Court erred in its finding of fact that Hudson had satisfied the adverse possession element of claim of ownership, when his entering a lease evidenced that Hudson did not claim ownership.

ISSUE NUMBER 3:

Whether the Court committed manifest error by holding the lease between the parties invalid for insufficiency of the legal description.

ISSUE NUMBER 4:

Whether the Court committed manifest error by incorrectly describing the boundary line between the property of the Appellant and Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. On or about September 11, 1974, Rebecca S. Bruce, now Rebecca Conliff, and her husband at the time, Emmitt R. Bruce purchased forty acres of an eighty acre tract from the original owner, Thurman Howard, Sr.!
- 2. On or about October 14, 1977, Walter Hudson and his wife, Aslene Hudson purchased the other forty acres of the original eighty acre tract from Thurman Howard, Sr.
- 3. In 1978, Walter Hudson built a house on the forty acre tract purchased by he and his wife

from Howard.

- 4. In 1990, following their divorce, Aslene Hudson conveyed ten acres of the forty acres they had purchased from Howard to Walter Hudson.
- 5. The ten acres conveyed to Walter Hudson in 1990, subsequent to his divorce, abuts the forty acres purchased by Rebecca Conliff and her husband from Thurman Howard, Sr. in 1974.
- 6. Rebecca Conliff had her forty acre tract surveyed on August 29, 1996 by Starr Surveying, the survey revealing that her boundary line was within approximately eight feet of Walter Hudson's house.
- 7. On September 24, 1996, Rebecca Conliff and Walter Hudson executed a lease agreement whereby Walter Hudson leased from Rebecca Conliff land described as:

Beginning at the first metal fence post past the southeast corner of the Tractor Barn go South 200 feet turn East to the surveyed line approx. 29 feet turn North 200 feet along surveyed line, turn West approx. 29 feet to the same metal fence post South of the Tractor Barn described as the beginning point.

- 8. On November 5, 1997, Rebecca Conliff and Walter Hudson renewed the lease of the same described area by signing and executing a new lease. The new lease was to expire November 5, 2002.
- 9. The land leased by Walter Hudson pursuant to the lease agreements of 1996 and 1997-2002 is within the land Hudson claims by adverse possession in the suit giving rise to this appeal.

ISSUE NUMBER 1:

Whether the Chancellor applied a clearly erroneous legal standard by in effect ruling that Hudson's adverse possession claim was "reactivated," after Hudson acquired the subject property by adverse possession, but then abandoned his ownership by recognizing Conliff's superior title and leasing the property from Conliff for five years.

The standard of review of a chancery court's orders is the substantial evidence/manifest error standard. Croenne v. Irby, 492 So.2d 1291, 1294 (Miss. 1986); also, Lee Hawkins Realty, Inc. v. Phillip W. Moss, et al., 724 So.2d 1116 (Miss. App. 1998) wherein it is said that a reviewing court will accept a chancellor's findings of fact so long as the evidence in the record reasonably supports those findings, and will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless they are clearly erroneous or a clearly erroneous legal standard was applied. Even if this Court were to disagree with the lower court on findings of fact and reach a different conclusion, this Court would still be bound by the Chancellor's findings unless those findings were manifestly wrong or if the wrong legal standard were applied. Richardson v. Riley, 355 So.2d 667, 668 (Miss. 1978). By implication, then, if a Chancellor's ruling was based on an erroneous legal standard, that ruling must be overturned.

Recognition of "reactivation" of a prior adverse possession claim is clearly not the legal standard applied by Mississippi courts and is in fact, contrary to the standard set forth recently in *Gillespie v. Kelly*, 809 So.2d 702 (Miss. App. 2001).

Were the lower court's judgment in this case to be affirmed, it would constitute the first such case in Mississippi "where an adverse possession claim has been deemed to be reactivated after a period of time in which use of the property was had by permission." *Id.* at 706-07. This Court must either reverse the Chancellor on this point, or take up the issue raised by Justice Southwick's concurrence in *Gillespie*, and decide "whether the five year period which [Hudson] used the easement [with Conliff's permission] in some fashion constituted an abandonment of his right to the easement and a recognition of Conliff's superior title." *Id.* at 712.

ISSUE NUMBER 2:

Whether the Court erred in its finding of fact that Hudson had satisfied the adverse possession element of claim of ownership, when his entering a lease evidenced that

Hudson did not claim ownership.

The plaintiff claiming ownership by adverse possession must prove six elements by clear and convincing evidence in order to prevail. *Warehousing Mgmt.*, *LLC v. Haywood Properties*, *LP*, 978 So.2d 684, 687 (Miss Ct. App. 2008) He must prove that his possession is under a claim of ownership; actual or hostile; open, notorious and visible; continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; exclusive and peaceful. *Id.* If a single element of the plaintiff's claim was not proven by clear and convincing evidence, then the claim of adverse possession cannot stand and the lower court must be reversed.

ISSUE NUMBER 3:

Whether the Court committed manifest error by holding the lease between the parties invalid for insufficiency of the legal description.

In Mississippi, when the intent of a lessor and lessee are readily apparent, when the property to be leased is easily ascertained, and no confusion is caused by the description of the property within the lease, the lease is not valid for insufficiency of the description. *Harrell v. Lamar Co.*, 925 So.2d 870 (Miss. App. 2005). A legal description within a lease that "enables a surveyor to locate boundaries by following the description" is a sufficient legal description. *Trotter v. Gaddis and McLaurin, Inc.*, 452 So.2d 453 (Miss. 1984). In the instant case, the parties understood the parcel to be leased, the description created no confusion between the parties, and the landmarks used within the description were sufficient to enable a surveyor to locate boundaries. The lease between the parties is not only evidence that Hudson did not claim ownership, it is also a valid agreement under Mississippi law.

ISSUE NUMBER 4:

Whether the Court committed manifest error by incorrectly describing the boundary line between the property of the Appellant and Appellee.

The legal description within the judgment describes the intended boundary between land owned by the Conliff and land to be owned by Hudson following the judgment. The legal description is errant in that it lacks at least two directional calls. If the lower court's judgment is affirmed, the case should be remanded so that the judgment can be revised to either grant the disputed portion to Hudson, or correctly describe the new boundary between the parties.

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case appears at first blush to be a common one in which the record title holder of land took steps to protect her interest, but took those steps too late. By the time the Defendant realized that her property boundary was not where she thought it was, it seems that another had satisfied the elements of adverse possession through the statutory period and had thus acquired title to a portion of her property. The instant case is actually much more complex, perhaps even raising a novel question of law. The Defendant did not slumber on her rights. She considered the use of the disputed parcel underlying this case to be shared until she had her property surveyed, at which time she offered to lease the shared portion to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff kept secret any claim he had to the disputed parcel, and willingly entered the proposed lease.

Assuming *arguendo*, that the trial court was correct in its ruling that the Plaintiff had in fact satisfied the requirements in Mississippi to obtain title to property by adverse possession, and that he had done so in or around 1987, the lower court's ruling fails to give any weight or significance to the period from 1996 to 2002 when Hudson leased the property he later claimed to own from Conliff. Hudson's entering into a lease for property he had supposedly obtained adversely raises

the question of whether, even if Hudson had acquired the subject property through prescription, his acknowledgment of another's superior title amounted to an abandonment of his claim.

In the case *sub judice*, the trial court disregarded the importance of the lease between Hudson and Conliff, and in essence ruled that Hudson's recent claim "reactivated" his adverse claim prior to 1996. The trial court did so in part because it found the legal description of the lease between the parties inadequate. The lease between the parties, however, has independent factual significance, regardless of its legal description. When the lease was entered, the parties rights with respect to the subject property had not been determined. Rebecca Conliff believed she owned the parcel of land. She notified Walter Hudson that she owned the disputed parcel. Hudson did nothing to "unfurl his flag" or dispute her ownership. He did not question her position as owner of the disputed portion, a mere eight feet from his house. Conliff offered to lease the land to him. He accepted her offer and entered the lease. Upon the renewal date of the lease, Hudson entered a five-year lease. For the time period of the lease, Hudson entered the subject property with the true owner's permission. Hudson acknowledged the superior title of Conliff and never once gave Conliff notice that he too claimed the disputed portion.

Furthermore, the lease between the parties was in fact, valid under Mississippi law. The parties understood the terms of the lease and the land described. Landmarks and boundaries were sufficient to allow a surveyor to identify the boundaries, and there was nothing in the legal description that caused confusion between the parties about the location or dimensions of the parcel to be leased.

Hudson forewent an opportunity to "unfurl his flag" and give the true owner notice of his adverse claim in 1996 when Conlift offered to lease the property to him. The Plaintiff would forego a second opportunity to give Conlift notice of his claim when he was haled into Madison County

Justice Court in 2003 for trespassing. Hudson paid for Conliff's damages and attorney's fees and never asserted his claim of ownership. Conliff provided Hudson the perfect opportunity to allege his ownership before a judicial forum. He made no such claim.

The lower court's ruling posits that the subject property was not the Appellant's to lease; that the land was already owned by the Appellee as early as 1987. Only one explanation supports the lower court's ruling; that Walter Hudson possessed the subject property adversely from 1977 to 1996, that he possessed the property with permission of Rebecca Conliff from 1996 to 2001, and that his adverse possession lawsuit in August of 2004, "reactivated" the preexisting adverse claim established in 1987. Such a ruling does not reflect the state of the law in Mississippi. The lower court has applied the wrong legal standard. In Mississippi, there is no case that supports the situation where an adverse possession claim has been deemed to be reactivated after a period of time in which use of the property was had by permission. Hudson abandoned his claim to title by adverse possession when he acknowledged Conliff's superior title in 1996. As such, Hudson no longer has a valid claim to the subject property and this Court should reverse the lower court and render for the Appellant.

An adverse possession claimant must satisfy six elements by clear and convincing evidence to prevail in his lawsuit under Mississippi law. Among these elements is a claim of ownership. The lower court failed to consider Hudson's entering of a lease for property he purported to own as evidence that the Hudson could not meet the claim of ownership test of an adverse possession claim.

Finally, in its judgment, the lower court incorrectly described the new boundary line established by Hudson's adverse possession claim. For the foregoing assignments of error, the lower court should be reversed, and a decision favoring the Appellant rendered.

VIII. ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1:

In the instant case, the lower court found that Hudson had acquired title to the subject property by adverse possession prior to a lease being executed between Conliff and Hudson, and that therefore, even if the lease between the parties had been valid [if the legal description had been sufficient], "she [Conliff] would have to claim it [the subject property] back and take adverse possession" before the Conliff's claim could be superior to Hudson's. In summary, the lower court states that Hudson satisfied all the elements of adverse possession prior to 1996 and his entering into the lease and occupying the property with Conliff's permission from 1996 to 2002 did not constitute abandonment of his ownership. Under the Court's ruling, Hudson essentially "reactivated" his prior adverse possession by this lawsuit.

This logic has been rejected by the Mississippi courts. In *Gillespie v. Kelly*, the Court of Appeals held that it had "yet to find any case law in this State where an adverse possession claim has been deemed to be reactivated after a period of time in which use of the property was had by permission." *Gillespie*, 809 So.2d at 706. The *Gillespie* Court concluded that the "chancellor was in error for holding an adverse possession claim can be reactivated . . ." *Id.* at 709.

Justice Southwick, in concurrence, distinguishes between situations where possession begins with permission (never ripens into adverse possession under Mississippi law) and situations where possession begins without any permission from the title owner. *Id.* at 711 (emphasis added). But in either instance, *Gillespie* looks, especially in the concurrence, at events *after* property has been acquired by adverse possession.

In *Gillespie*, the Court held that the appellee had never satisfied the requirements of adverse possession prior to use by permission, and so it was not necessary for the Court to resolve the issue

faced by this Court. The *Gillespie* concurrence states that if the Court *had found* that the appellee in that case had already acquired an easement by prior possession, the Court would have to consider the issue of whether "the five year period which Kelly used the easement [with Gillespie's permission] in some fashion constituted an abandonment of his right to the easement and a recognition of Gillespie's superior title." *Id.* at 712. The concurrence raised the issue of whether "use of an easement with permission can be an abandonment of the preexisting right to use without permission" but characterized the point as "an avoidable legal point" in that case. *Id.*

The point is not avoidable in the present case. If, as the lower court found, Hudson indeed acquired the disputed property by adverse possession in approximately 1987, did his entering into a lease for land he purported to own constitute an abandonment of his preexisting right to the subject property? If so, then the lower court "reactivated" Hudson's adverse possession claim with its ruling, contrary to *Gillespie*.

Were the lower court's judgment in this case to stand, it would constitute the first such case in Mississippi "where an adverse possession claim has been deemed to be reactivated after a period of time in which use of the property was had by permission." *Id.* at 706-07. Precedent in Mississippi demands a reversal of the trial court. If, however, this Court decides that this is a novel point of law, it must at least take up the issue reached but not decided by *Gillespie*, of whether the five year period which Hudson used the subject property with Conliff's permission in some fashion constituted an abandonment of his right to the subject property and a recognition of Conliff's superior title. The Appellant asserts that Hudson's entering into a lease not only indicates that he never satisfied the claim of ownership element of adverse possession during the statutory period, but also, even if he had, he later abandoned that adverse claim by occupying the land with the true owner's permission. This case should be reversed and a judgment for the Appellant rendered on the adverse possession

claim.

ISSUE 2:

Studies suggest that courts prefer an inadvertent adverse possessor, such as Hudson in the instant case, over one who has nefarious designs to obtain another's land. Christopher H. Meredith, IMPUTED ABANDONMENT: A FRESH PERSPECTIVE ON ADVERSE POSSESSION AND A DEFENSE OF THE OBJECTIVE STANDARD; 29 Miss. Col. Law Rev. 257 (2010) (citing Richard H. Hemholz, ADVERSE POSSESSION AND SUBJECTIVE INTENT, 61 Wash. U. L.Q. 331,332 (1983.) The courts tend to favor the good-faith adverse possessor so much, that they may even find a bad faith possessor's claim "lacking by stingily applying one or more of the statutory or common law elements." *Id.* By the same token, courts dealing with a good-faith possessor may relax the application of the elemental standard.

While Hudson never had his property line surveyed or sought to fence in his portion, admittedly entered into a lease for property he purported to own, was adjudged to be trespasser by the Madison County Justice Court, repaid the Appellant for damage to the subject property, and removed trash from the subject property under court order without ever voicing a claim to the land, he still managed to satisfy the lower court on every element of an adverse possession claim clearly and convincingly, including a claim of ownership. The lower court found contrary to the weight of the evidence, particularly on the claim of ownership element, by refusing to recognize the 1996-2002 lease as not only valid, but crucial to the prima facie case.

Hudson characterized his willingness to enter a lease with the Appellant as a measure to keep the peace (Trial at 57-58). Combined with Hudson's testimony and a lease that the lower court found as grossly inadequate in its legal description (Ruling at 6), the lower court failed to recognize the independent significance of the lease as negating Hudson's claim of ownership. If Hudson did

not claim ownership, he could not have satisfied the elements of adverse possession during the period of 1977 to 1987 as the court found (Ruling at 5-6).

The facts show that Hudson was found by the Madison County Justice Court to be a trespasser and was ordered to pay Conliff for damages to her property and for attorney's fees. (Trial at 61). Hudson never asserted his claim of ownership during this court proceeding. Not only did Hudson lease the disputed property from its rightful owner, but when his legal claim to the property was challenged, he paid court costs, attorney's fees and damages for his unauthorized use of the property. Such actions are hardly those of one who occupies under a claim of ownership.

The plaintiff claiming ownership by adverse possession must prove six elements by clear and convincing evidence in order to prevail. *Warehousing Mgmt*. 978 So.2d at 687. He must prove that his possession is under a claim of ownership; actual or hostile; open, notorious and visible; continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; exclusive and peaceful. *Id*. As the plaintiff must prove all six, if a single element of the plaintiff's claim was not proven by clear and convincing evidence, then the lower court must be reversed.

The concept that courts favor inadvertent adverse possessors is arguably rooted in a kind of "imputed abandonment" by the true owner – the true owner is viewed to have "slept on his rights" while another encroached, and therefore does not deserve to keep his property. Meredith, 29 Miss. Coll. L. Rev. at 272. After all, the least a land owner can do is to be aware of his boundaries and of trespass into those boundaries by others. In the instant case, however, the Defendant did not sleep on her rights. Her testimony below contradicted Hudson's in that she said they both used the disputed portion prior to 1990. In fact, she bush-hogged the disputed parcel. While Hudson argued that his entering a lease in 1996 was to keep the peace (and the trial court rewarded his deference), Conliff's attempts to exist peaceably with her neighbor, by sharing use of the disputed portion near

the boundary to their respective properties, turned out to be a sword used against her in the trial of this matter. Because she did not have her property surveyed earlier, her shared use of the portion was of no importance to the trial court. Because she did not have her exact boundary determined earlier, her building of a fence in 1990 to keep horses in (not to delineate her property boundary) caused that fence to become a de facto property line.

Hudson's use of the disputed portion was so minimally invasive – planting shrubs and flowers and "cleaning up" (Trial Transcript at 20) – that it never crossed the Appellant's mind that he may assert a claim to the property. She had surveyors come in and erected fences, fully believing that it was her property she enclosed and that she was in no way trespassing. Such action indicates that Hudson had never done anything to give her notice of his claim. The lower court erred in its finding of fact on the element of claim of ownership. The lower court's decision must be reversed and a decision for the Appellant rendered.

ISSUE 3:

The trial court found that "the legal description that was provided in the lease ... grossly and inadequately described whatever property that she purported to be leasing to him," and therefore ruled that "the lease was probably invalid." (Ruling at 6.) The court concluded the lease description was invalid in that it contained, "no reference to county or state." (Ruling at 4.) The trial court's ruling proposes that any lease of real property in Mississippi requires something more of its legal description than the lease between Conliff and Hudson contained.

Other jurisdictions have recognized the principle that so long as the parties to a lease understand what is to be leased, a lease between them is valid, despite an otherwise insufficient legal description. A deed conveying the lease of mineral rights was found valid, "so long as it is possible, by any reasonable rule of construction, to ascertain from the description, aided by extrinsic evidence,

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