IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA CONLIFF

APPELLANT

v.

CASE NO: 2009-CA-01803



WALTER HUDSON

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges on the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Rebecca Confliff, Appellant
- 2. Walter Hudson, Appellee
- 3. Honorable Janace Harvey-Goree, Madison County Chancellor
- 4. K. F. Boackle, Esquire, Attorney for Appellant
- 5. Jeffrey L. Lee, Esquire, Attorney for Appellant

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor applied the correct legal standard in her determination that Hudson had acquired title to the disputed property by adverse possession. She found that Hudson began exercising exclusive control over the property in 1978 and that he continued to occupy the property uninterrupted until 1996 when Conliff had the first Starr survey done and then demanded that Hudson sign a lease for the disputed property. The Chancellor found that Hudson's uninterrupted possession of the property matured in 1988 by adverse possession which gave him title to the property. The Chancellor never found that Hudson had abandoned his ownership by signing the lease since title had already matured to him by adverse possession. In order for Conliff to acquire title to the property through adverse possession she was required to exercise all those well-known incidents of ownership for a continuous period of 10 years, which she failed to do because Hudson filed his first complaint to quiet title to the tract on August 12, 2004 and filed his first amended complaint alleging title by adverse possession on August 17, 2004.

Hudson having acquired ownership of the property by adverse possession in 1988 did not lose his ownership by signing a lease with Conliff in 1996 in an effort to keep the peace.

However had Conliff continued on her course of exercising control over the disputed property in time she could have reacquire the property by adverse possession.

The Chancellor was correct in her judgment and should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Court of Appeals in reviewing a case based upon adverse possession has noted the standard of review as follows:

This Court has a limited standard of review in examining and considering the decision of the Chancellor. *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2000) "The Chancellor, as the trier of fact, evaluates the sufficiency of the proof based upon the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony." *Fisher v. Fisher*, 771 So.2d 364, 367 (Miss. 2000) (citations omitted) A chancellor's findings will not be disturbed upon review by this Court unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied the wrong legal standard. *Bank of Mississippi v. Hollingsworth*, 609 So.2d 422, 424 (Miss. 1992). "The standard of review employed by this Court for review of a chancellor's decision is abuse of discretion." *McNeil*, 753 So.2d at1063(¶21). The standard of review for questions of law is de novo. *Consolidated Pipe & Supply Company v. Colter* 735 So.2d 958, 961 (Miss. 1999)

Gillespie v. Kelly, 809 So.2d 702, 705 (¶ 9) (Miss.App.2001)

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NUMBER 1:

Whether the Chancellor applied a clearly erroneous legal standard by in effect ruling that Hudson's adverse possession claim was "reactivated" after Hudson acquired the subject property by adverse possession, but then abandoned his ownership by recognizing Conliff's superior title and leasing the property from Conliff for five years.

ISSUE NUMBER 2:

Whether the Court erred in its finding of fact that Hudson had satisfied the adverse possession element of claim of ownership, when his entering a lease evidenced that Hudson did not claim ownership.

ISSUE NUMBER 3:

Whether the Court committed manifest error by holding the lease between the parties invalid for insufficiency of the legal description.

These issues, as stated by Conliff, are without merit.

Even though Conliff briefs these three issues separately Hudson believes that they are inseparable since they speak to the essential elements of adverse possession and therefore Hudson will brief these together.

Hudson was required at trial to prove by clear and convincing evidence six elements to establish his claim of adverse possession which are: his possession must have been (1) under claim of ownership; (2) actual or hostile; (3) open, notorious, and visible; (4) continuous and uninterrupted for a period of 10 years; (5) exclusive; and (6) peaceful. *Warehouse Management, LLC v. Haywood Properties, LP* 978 So.2d 684, 687 (Miss.App.2008).

(1) Under Claim of Ownership

The Chancellor found that Hudson was claiming ownership of the property as evidenced by Hudson's use of the property. Hudson began to exercise the rights of ownership of the property upon receiving his deed in 1977 or at the latest June 1978 when he completed the construction of his house. Ownership was evidenced by him clearing the land and planting a garden, trees and shrubs and placing a water line on the property which was used to water his plants. Even though it was determined by survey that the disputed 29 foot strip lay outside of the call of Hudson's deed his use of the property was uninterrupted from 1978 until Conliff presented him with a lease in 1996 and it is immaterial that the property lay inside or outside of the land described in his deed.

It does not matter whether land claimed under adverse possession be within or without the 'call of the title deeds,' *Evans v. Harrison*, 130 Miss. 157, 163, 93 So. 737, 738 (1922), or that it be in the same quarter section or section as the land lies which is described in the deed. *Cole v. Burleson*, 375 So.2d 1046, 1048 (Miss. 1979)

Rice v. Pritchard, 611 So.2d 869, 871 (Miss. 1992).

Hudson claimed ownership to the property and under *Rice* it makes no difference that some or even all of the 29 foot strip may have been outside of the legal description contained in Hudson's deed.

(2) Actual or Hostile

Hudson's claimed to the property was "actual or hostile". In describing this element the Court of Appeals has stated:

Actual possession is "effective control over a definite area of land, evidenced by things visible to the eye or perceptible to the senses." (citation omitted). An occupant of land who mistakenly believes the land lies within the boundaries established by his own deed, when the land actually belongs to another, may acquire title to that land by adverse possession. (citation omitted).

Warehousing Management, LLC, supra at 688 (¶ 20)

The Chancellor was correct in her determination that Hudson had proven this element by clear and convincing evidence. Even though Thurman Howard testified that the fence was not the property line and that Hudson's property line was in fact east of the fence, Hudson cleared the land to the fence and began using the property for a garden as well as other uses. It is undisputed that Hudson's actually possessed the property, using it as his own.

(3) Open, Notorious and Visible

The Chancellor was also correct in finding that Hudson had proven by clear and convincing evidence that his occupation was open, notorious and visible. The Chancellor's decision is supported by decisions of both the Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals.

A "landowner must have notice, actual or imputable, of an adverse claim to his property in order for it to ripen against him, and the mere possession of land is not sufficient to satisfy the requirement of open and notorious." (citations omitted) An adverse possessor "must unfurl his flag on the land, and keep it flying so that the (actual) owner may see, and if he will, that an enemy has invaded his domains, and planted the standards of conquest." (citations omitted)

Warehousing Management, LLC, supra at 687 (¶ 17).

From the evidence it was clear and convincing that Conliff was a frequent visitor to her property after 1978 when Hudson built his house and began to exercise dominion and control over the 29

foot strip of land. Hudson maintained a garden, planted trees and shrubs, and parked his vehicles and equipment on the strip for Conliff and everybody to see.

Hudson's use was exclusive as was evidenced by him and his family being the only people to use the property. Conliff testified at trial that both parties used the property however, the Chancellor in listening to and weighing the testimony of the witnesses obviously believed Hudson's version of events and gave little or no weight to Conliff's version on the issue of joint use. What was clear and convincing was that it was Hudson's garden, water line, trees and shrubs which occupied the strip of land with Conliff claiming no ownership interest in any of those items. Therefore the Chancellor was correct in her finding that Hudson's occupation of the property in excess of 10 years was exclusive, open, notorious and visible.

(4) Continuous and Uninterrupted for a Period of 10 Years

(5) Exclusive

(6) Peaceful

Hudson's use was also exclusive, peaceful and continuous and uninterrupted for a period of 10 years. Hudson began using the 29 foot strip in June, 1978, at the latest, when he built his house and continued unabated in his use of it until September 24, 1996 at the earliest, when Conliff had the first Starr survey conducted and prepared and had Hudson sign a lease agreement or 2004 at the latest when Conliff bulldozed the old fence. Hudson purchased the property by warranty deed dated October 14, 1977 at which time he went into possession of the property and he completed building his house in June, 1978 (T.19). After completing the house and moving in Hudson began his work to clear the 29 foot strip of brush, etc., install a water line and plant a garden. Hudson continued to use the property exclusively without any interference from Conliff until September 24, 1996 when she demanded that he sign the lease. By that time Hudson had

been in the peaceful, uninterrupted, exclusive possession of the property in excess of 18 years and his title by adverse possession had ripen no later than June 1988. In her brief Conliff seems to take solace in the fact that once she had Hudson sign the lease that Hudson recognized that she had a superior title to the property and somehow at that point the property became hers, however she ignores the well-established law of adverse possession. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that once the 10 year adverse possession runs that the adverse possessor is invested with a new independent title to the property. *Levy v. Campbell*, 200 Miss. 721, 28 So.2d 224 (Miss. 1946).

Once title has been acquired by adverse possession title can only be lost by transfers such as a deed, will, intestate succession or by another period of adverse possession ripening title in a new adverse user. *Lowi v. David*, 134 Miss. 296, 302, 98 So.2d 684, 685 (1924). And, once adverse title has been acquired it is not relinquished or lost by the new owner (Hudson) indicating a belief in the former owner's (Conliff's) title by doing such things as signing a lease. *Bonds v. Bonds*, 226 Miss. 348, 359-60, 84 So.2d 397, 399-400 (1956).

From and after June, 1988 Hudson owned the disputed tract and the fact that he signed the lease did not change his ownership of the property. At most it can be seen as the beginning of Conliff attempting to acquired title to the property by adverse possession, however, her adverse possession was interrupted before the expiration of 10 years by Hudson's complaint filed in August, 2004.

The Chancellor was correct in adjudicating that Hudson had proven the elements of adverse possession by clear and convincing evidence and thereby vesting title in Hudson.

Conliff takes issue with the chancery court finding that the purported leases between Conliff and Hudson were invalid because of the insufficiency of the legal description, however,

Hudson does not believe this determination by the court makes any difference in the outcome of the case. As discussed above, the lease came approximately 8 years after the title vested in Hudson through adverse possession, therefore whether the description was sufficient or the lease was valid makes no difference. *Bonds, supra*.

ISSUE NUMBER 4:

Whether the Court committed manifest error by incorrectly describing the boundary line between the property of the Appellants and the Appellee.

In her brief on this issue Conliff fails to cite any authority in support of her position, therefore, she is procedurally barred from presenting this issue. MRAP 28 (a) (6) provides that the argument shall, inter alia, contain "citations to the authorities, statutes and part of the record relied on." Failure to comply with Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 28 (a) (6) renders an argument procedurally barred." *Rodgers v. State*, 994 So.2d 792, 800 (¶ 31) (Miss.App. 2008). Therefore, Hudson will not file a response to this issue, however, the issue is without merit since the Chancellor was not manifestly wrong in her determination of the boundary line between the property of Hudson and Conliff as reflected in the judgment.

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor was correct in her finding of facts concerning Hudson's adverse possession of the 29 foot strip of land and she correctly applied the law of adverse possession. Therefore, the Chancery Court should be affirmed.